FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/7/2022 12:30 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

(Court of Appeals No. 82021-4-I) (consol. With No. 82085-1-I)

SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CENTRAL STEEL, INC.,

Appellant/Petitioner

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Aaron K. Owada, WSBA #13869 Mitchell T. Harada, WSBA #19419 Sean Walsh, WSBA #39735 Richard Skeen, WSBA #48426 Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

OWADA LAW, PC 975 Carpenter Road NE, Suite 204 Lacey, WA 98516 Tel: (360) 483-0700 Fax: (360) 489-1877

A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Central Steel, Inc. ("Central Steel").

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Central Steel seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division I, decision dated December 3, 2021. Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on February 7, 2022.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Was there a WISHA violation when a supervisor unclipped from his fall protection to seek medical attention for a fallen worker when the supervisor was no closer than 10 feet from a fall hazard while he was running for help in an area protected by guardrails?
- 2. Where the Employer could not reasonably foresee that the violative conduct, should the supervisor's knowledge of his own conduct be imputed to the Employer?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Factual background of the construction work at the new residence hall at Seattle University.

In December 2017, Central Steel was an iron subcontractor doing rebar work for the construction of a residence hall at Seattle University. Nicholas Hofmann, a Central Steel journey level ironworker, and Ray Estores, a Central Steel apprentice, worked with Mr. Hofmann every day that Mr. Hofmann was on the project. (Tr. 6.5.19, p. 12).

On Saturday, December 30, 2017, Mr. Hofmann and Mr. Estores were the only Central Steel workers at the worksite. They were scheduled to work a half day. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 13-14, 40, 59). They were assigned to tie off some left-over rebar on the post-tensioning deck on Level 9, the uppermost level of the worksite. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 14-15, 23). There were two sides on Level 9: a finished side on the south and an unfinished side on the north. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 15, 23). Mr. Hofmann and Mr. Estores were scheduled to work on both sides of Level 9. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 15, 23; Tr. 6/17/19, p. 13). The northside was a one hundred percent tie off zone. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 20). This was communicated by a cattle guard identifying the leading edge. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 20-21; Exhibit 8). Central Steel also regularly communicated the one hundred percent tie off requirements to its workers and enforced this rule through jobsite audits and its progressive disciplinary program. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 56).

Unlike the southside, the northside was a one hundred percent tie off zone because it did not have guardrails around the entire perimeter. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 13-15, 23, 55-56). Although the northside was designated as a one hundred percent tie off zone, there were guardrails around most, but not all of the perimeter. As shown in Exhibits 6 and 7, the fall hazard was on the inside of the north core, and along the north and northeast perimeter of the core.

To get to the northside, Mr. Hofmann and Mr. Estores had to tie off.¹ (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 19, 23). They tied off before crossing the cattle guard shown in Exhibit 7 to go to the northside. Before entering the northside, they used a yo-yo with two lanyards; one tied off and another available to tie off at the next connection point. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 20).

Then, they would strap the unused lanyard to the next connection point and release the other lanyard that was connected to the previous tie off point, so they maintained a one hundred percent tie off across the entire northside before reaching the north core. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 20-21, 24). Both workers always had two lanyards attached to their full body harness to maintain one hundred percent tie off. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 24). There were plenty of yo-yos available to tie off. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 22-23).

Once Mr. Hofmann and Mr. Estores got to the north core to tie back vertical rebar on the elements, they stood on the PERI forms, the orange items on the inside of the core in Exhibit 1, and they tied off the rebar on the other side of the PERI form. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 17, 25). This work took approximately 15 minutes. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 25).

¹ In Mr. Hofmann's testimony, the southside was referenced as Zone 1 and the northside was referenced as Zone 2, but for continuity purposes, this brief will only reference the southside and northside. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 19).

Mr. Hofmann unequivocally testified that he was tied off, and based on his observations, Mr. Estores was tied off during this process. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 25). Prior to December 30, 2017, Mr. Hofmann described Mr. Estores' attention to safety as being "always really good." (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 26). Mr. Hofmann testified that he never observed Mr. Estores fail to tie off when he needed to be tied off. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 27). Mr. Ruckle also testified that based on his observations, Mr. Hofmann and Mr. Estores were properly tied off and very conscious about safety. (Tr. 6/17/19, p. 14-15). Marty Ehnat, a Central Steel superintendent, further testified that before December 30, 2017, he never had any concerns about Mr. Hofmann's and Mr. Estores' ability to perform their work and follow the safety rules. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 59-60).

After Mr. Hofmann and Mr. Estores finished their work, they descended the east side of the north core. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 27). Mr. Hofmann descended first, and Mr. Estores was on top of the element waiting to descend, as only one person could descend the north core at a time. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 27-28). Mr. Hofmann had his lanyard hooked and he descended a ladder, and when he descended, he moved his lanyard. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 28). Mr. Hofmann would then jump onto the deck once he was all the way down. (Tr. 6/5/129, p. 28).

Mr. Hofmann then looked back to ensure Mr. Estores was starting his descent, and he was. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 29). As Mr. Hofmann and Mr. Estores were walking towards the yo-yos, Mr. Hofmann heard Mr. Estores' positioning hooks jingle, so he turned around and noticed Mr. Estores was gone. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 29, 31-32). Mr. Hofmann then heard a carpenter from another contractor report that Mr. Estores had fallen. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 32).

Mr. Hofmann was about 40 feet from the handrails shown in Exhibit 1, and he was 20 feet from the leading edge at the time he heard Mr. Estores' positioning hooks jingle. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 33). Prior to this time, Mr. Hofmann was always tied off, including when he heard Mr. Estores' positioning hooks jingle. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 31-32). Thereafter, he unclipped his yo-yo and ran towards the finished southside's stair tower, away from the leading edge, so he could aid Mr. Estores. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 33). Significantly, Mr. Hofmann was approximately 20 feet from the leading edge when he unclipped his yo-yo and ran towards the southside. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 33). The Court of Appeals concluded there was substantial evidence that he was up to 10 feet away from the fall hazard.

Kurt Stranne, a registered professional engineer and certified safety professional, inspected Mr. Estores' fall protection gear after he fell, as well as some broken plywood that was in the area. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 84, 90). Mr. Stranne found a

shoulder strap had a rip-stich deployed, indicating that Mr. Estores' body harness was being loaded and put under tension. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 95; Exhibit 28).

The Board adopted Mr. Stranne's opinion that Mr. Estores' torn rip stitch resulted from his fall being arrested, but that he tragically attached to an incompatible object, and the force exerted form his fall was great enough to deploy his rip stich, but not strong enough to arrest his fall. (Tr. 6/5/19, p. 105). Even though the Department cited Central Steel because Mr. Estores was not tied off, the Board vacated that citation after concluding that Central Steel could not have reasonably known that Mr. Estores would tie off to an incompatible anchor point. The remaining citation was for Mr. Hofmann who unclipped from his fall protection to seek aid after he learned that Mr. Estores had fallen in violation of WAC 296-155-24609(1).

The Board correctly found that Mr. Hofmann had been tied off until he heard a sound and discovered that Mr. Estores had fallen to the bottom of the north core. (CABR 51, 53). Yet, the Board incorrectly found that Mr. Hofmann was exposed to a fall hazard after he unclipped on the northside. (CABR 51, 53). The Board found at Finding of Fact No. 6:

"Once they completed their assignments on the north core, Mr. Hofmann was first to climb off the north core. Once he was near the bottom of the north core, he jumped off the element and onto the deck. He looked up to see Mr. Estores, who had also begun to climb down. Mr. Estores was tied off at this time. Mr. Hofmann then walked to the northwest corner of the north core element. He heard a sound and discovered Mr. Estores had fallen to his death at the bottom of the north core. At this point in time, Mr. Hofmann stopped tying off. He then ran to the dividing line between the north and south zones, and ran down the stairs in order to get to Mr. Estores' body. Because yo-yos operate like a seatbelt, it would have locked on Mr. Hofmann had he been attached to a yo-yo as he ran from the north core to the stairs in the south zone. He was not tied off as required by the WAC from the point he began to run from the north core, over the cattle guard and down the stairs. (CABR 53) (emphasis added).

The Board also incorrectly found that Mr. Hofmann's knowledge of his own conduct could be imputed to Central Steel because he was acting in a supervisory role. (CABR 51-52, 53). The Board found in Finding of Fact No. 7: Because Mr. Hofmann was acting as a supervisor, his knowledge of his own violation is imputed to the employer. Central Steel knew of the violative condition. (CABR 53).

E. ARGUMENT

1. Unclipping from the protection equipment does not equate to exposure to a fall hazard.

At page 13 of the decision, the Court of Appeals found:

"Rather, the Board found that Hofmann "was within 20 feet of the leading edge." Finding of Fact 8 (emphasis added). This finding is supported by substantial evidence. Indeed, How testified that, when Hofmann detached from his fall protection equipment, Hofmann was "[r]oughly about 10 feet" from the leading edge.

Given Hofmann's proximity to the leading edge when he detached from his fall protection equipment, substantial evidence supports a finding that Hofmann was exposed to a fall hazard. Moreover, as already explained, substantial evidence supports a finding that Hofmann was exposed to a fall hazard when he traversed the northern section of level nine without being attached to a fall protection system.

Accordingly, substantial evidence supports the Board's finding that Hofmann was exposed to a fall hazard."

Central Steel respectfully asserts that even if Mr. Hofmann was 10 feet away from the leading edge when he detached from his fall protection equipment, there was no evidence in the record or any finding by the Board that Hofmann was actually exposed to a fall hazard at that point. Moreover, the Court's decision that substantial evidence supports a finding Hofmann was exposed to a fall hazard when he was traversing the northern section does not take into account that the northern section was protected against falls by the handrails that were set up.

Being 10 feet away from the fall edge is not exposed to a fall hazard. There were no findings of fact that Hofmann could remotely fall off the edge when he was 10 feet away from it, and he was running away from it to get help. WISHA has no definition of what constitutes a fall hazard. However, under federal OSHA law, a fall hazard is defined in 29 CFR 1918.2 as:

Fall hazard means the following situations:

(1) Whenever employees are working within three feet (.91 m) of the unprotected edge of a work surface that is

8 feet or more (2.44 m) above the adjoining surface and twelve inches (.3 m) or more, horizontally, from the adjacent surface.

Thus, when Hofmann was roughly 10 feet away from the edge, under the federal definition, Hofmann was more than 3 times away from being exposed to a fall hazard.

Because the section around the core, and the area where the carpenter was putting up the remaining handrails did not protect employees against a fall in those specific areas, the Central Steel imposed a 100% fall protection requirement. The 100% tie off rule was a self-imposed rule to ensure that regardless of where the employees were in the northern section, they would be protected against falls, even when they were also protected by the handrails. The fact remains that in the majority of the northern section where the handrails were installed, tying off to the fall protection equipment was a redundant form of protection which was not required by the Department's fall protection regulations. That is because only one form of fall protection must be provided, not two. Nevertheless, consistent with the safety values adopted by Central Steel, over protection was imposed to ensure worker safety.

As such, the fact that Hofmann disconnected from the fall protection system does not mean that he was exposed to a fall where the leading edge was 10 feet away. That is, the Department provided no evidence that Hofmann could actually fall off the

edge that was 10 feet away, nor did the Department establish that it was reasonably likely that Hofmann would go to the leading edge when the evidence and the Board's own finding was that he was running away from the fall hazard.

While Hofmann was technically in violation of its self-imposed rule of 100% tie off, he was not in violation of any WISHA regulation. This is because the fall protection rules are mandated only when employees are exposed to fall hazards. If employers are cited for violations of their self-imposed safety rules which go beyond the WISHA regulations, then employee safety will be undermined because it will deter employers from imposing stricter safety standards and going above and beyond the safety requirements imposed by WISHA.

The Employer also respectfully asserts that the Court's reliance on the fact that the workers were working at heights 90 feet above the ground and that, "[t]here might be areas where, in this building for instance, underneath, the piers had not been completely supported." does not take into account that there was no evidence that the deck the employees were traversing was in any way defective such that employees could fall through. Even so, it was not a finding made by the Board. Moreover, for the sake of argument, if an employee were to go through an unsupported pier to the 8th floor below, there was no evidence or Board finding that fall protection would be required. The

Department did not cite the Employer for not providing adequate walking working surfaces in the northern section.

The Department failed to present any evidence and the Board did not make any specific finding that detaching from the fall protection system at 10 feet away from the leading edge actually exposed Hofmann to a fall hazard. As such, the Department failed to meet its burden of proving employee exposure as required. Consequently, this Court should reconsider its decision and either vacate the citation or remand the matter to the Board to make specific findings that can then be addressed by the parties.

2. Knowledge of the violative conduct is a necessary prima facie element that must first be established to avoid a strict liability standard.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that:

"To establish the knowledge requirement of a WISHA violation, the Department does not bear the burden to prove that the violation was foreseeable. *Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 194 Wn. App. 428, 440, 377 P.3d 251 (2016) (stating that "the applicable standard here is whether [the employer] knew or should have known of the violative condition—not whether the behavior that led to the violation was foreseeable"). Rather, once the Department establishes a prima facie case of a WISHA violation, the burden shifts to the employer "who can avoid a finding against it if it can establish that 'unpreventable employee misconduct' was the actual cause of the violation." *J.E. Dunn Northwest, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 139 Wn. App. 35, 46, 156 P.3d 250 (2007) (quoting RCW 49.17.120(5)(a))."

The Court also correctly held that the burden of proof for employee misconduct is on the Employer as an affirmative defense. Central Steel agrees that RCW 49.17.120(5) codified the federal OSHA decisions which held that the Employer has the burden of proving the affirmative defense. Central Steel did not raise the affirmative defense of employee misconduct for two First, as this Court held, the issue of employee reasons. misconduct does not arise until the prima facie elements, which includes employer knowledge, is first met by the Department. Secondly, Central Steel did not believe that when Hofmann disconnected from his fall protection, he was 10 feet away from the fall hazard, and that he was not exposed to a fall hazard which required him to be tied off. More importantly, Central Steel does not believe that given the emergency nature of why Mr. Hofmann decided to disconnect, Central Steel had no control over Mr. Hofmann, or any other employee from disconnecting to seek emergency aid to a fallen co-worker.

Even though Central Steel does not question the Court's decision that employee misconduct was not raised, and that even if it were, the Employer has the burden of proof in establishing this affirmative defense, Central Steel respectfully requests this Court to reconsider its decision that imputing knowledge of supervisory misconduct of the violative condition does not constitute imposition of a strict liability standard.

In referencing the federal cases cited by Central Steel, the Court correctly noted at page 17 that:

Notably, in each of these cases, the courts reasoned that, if the government were able to establish employer knowledge merely by demonstrating that a supervisor had knowledge of his or her own misconduct, then the government would be impermissibly relieved of its burden to establish that the violation was foreseeable.

Proving employer knowledge is a strict obligation of the Department as part of its *prima facie* case. *Brock v. L.E. Myers Co.*, 818 F.2d 1270 (6th Cir.) cert. denied, 484 U.S. 989 (1987). See, also, *Kerns Bros. Tree Serv.*, 18 BNA OSHC 2064, 2067, 2000 CCH OSHD ¶ 32, 053, p.48,003 (No. 96-1719, 2000) (Secretary bears burden of proof on actual or constructive knowledge). The Review Commission and courts have consistently held that knowledge is an essential element of the Secretary's burden of proof. See *Secretary of Labor v. Milliken & Co.*, 14 BNA OSHC 2079, 2080, 2082-2084 (Rev. Comm. 1991). This obligation cannot be ignored or shifted away from the Department.²

² The Department of Labor & Industries' administrative code regarding its burden of proof in WISHA cases is consistent with the above cited federal case law.

In *Trinity Industries, Inc. v. Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission*, 206 F.3d 539, (5th Cir. 2000), the Fifth Circuit of the US Court of Appeals held that under 29 U.S.C. 666(k), the Secretary has the initial burden of proving all prima facie elements. With regards to the requisite element of knowledge, the court held at page 542:

"To prove the knowledge element of its burden, the Secretary must show that the employer knew of, or with exercise of reasonable diligence could have known of the non-complying condition."

In *Trinity*, the Secretary alleged that a contaminant was above the Permissible Exposure Levels. However, because the employer demonstrated that it had made measurements and determined that the concentration was not excessive, the burden was on the Secretary to show that the employer's failure to discover the excessive concentration resulted from a failure to exercise reasonable diligence.

To impute knowledge to an employer of an alleged hazard, the hazard must be <u>specifically</u> known to the employer—"it is not enough to find that a condition contravening that standard existed in the employer's workplace. In federal OSHA cases, the Secretary must also prove that the employer either knew or could

have known with the exercise of reasonable diligence of the **noncomplying condition**." (emphasis added) *Dunlop v. Rockwell International*, 540 F.2d 1283 [4 OSHC 1606] (6th Cir. 1976); *Alsea Lumber Co.*, 511 F.2d 1139 [2 OSHC 1649] (9th Cir. 1975); *Prestressed Systems, Inc.*, OSHRC Docket No. 16147 [9 OSHC 1864]; *Scheel Construction Co.*, 76 OSAHRC 138/B6, 4 BNA OSHC 1825.

Under agency laws, the knowledge, and actions of those in supervisory positions can be imputed to their employers. However, *knowledge is not automatically imputed to the Employer* as the Secretary seeking to impute a supervisor's acts or omissions must show that the supervisor's conduct was reasonably foreseeable and thus preventable by the employer. *Brennan v. Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission*, 511 F.2d 1139 (9th Cir. 1975). The Ninth Circuit has expressly held:

"A serious violation shall be deemed to exist in a place of employment if there is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from a condition which exists, or from one or more practices, means, methods, operations or processes which have been adopted or are in use, in such place of employment unless the employer did not, and could not with the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence of the violation." *Id.* at 1142.

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