FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/6/2022 4:10 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100715-9

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# CENTRAL STEEL,

Petitioner,

v.

# WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JAMES P. MILLS Senior Counsel WSBA No. 36978 Office No. 91040 Office of the Attorney General 1250 Pacific Avenue, Suite 105 PO Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98402

# **

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

supported and he was 10 feet from the edge. *Id.* at 23-24. Central Steel's claims to the contrary lack merit for five reasons.

First, Central makes no mention of the applicable zone of danger test. But the Court of Appeals decision was consistent with this Court's decision in Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am., 110 Wn.2d 128, 131-32, 148, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988), in which this Court adopted the zone of danger standard. Under this test, the Department may show the worker was in the zone of danger covered by the regulation to prove an employer exposed a worker to a hazard in violation of WISHA. Shimmick Constr. Co., 12 Wn. App. 2d at 785-86. Or the Department may show that the worker had access to the zone of danger by being near it. *Mid Mountain*, 136 Wn. App. at 5-7. Central Steel shows no reason for review when the Court of Appeals followed this Court's decision.

Central Steel departs from this Court's test when it ignores the zone of danger test, and it now argues that "[b]eing

10 feet away from the fall edge is not exposed to a fall hazard."

Pet. 8. It claims for the first time that the Court of Appeals should have applied a federal Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA) non-construction definition of fall hazard that applies to longshore workers. *See* Pet. 8-9 (citing 29 C.F.R. § 1918.2). There are no ships or docks with containers in this case. No reason for review is presented by an invitation to follow some rule improperly imported from an unrelated OSHA standard.

Second, no reason for review is presented by a petition that uses a version of the facts, including its statement of the facts, presented in the light most favorable to the appealing party. The Court of Appeals acted consistently with this Court's direction to decline to follow this type of misdirection and instead to follow substantial evidence principles. *See Matter of Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 531-32, 957 P.2d 755 (1998) (admonishing party to not present facts in a manner that ignores the substantial evidence standard); RAP 9.1; RAP 10.3(a)(5).

Third, Central Steel misrepresents the law and facts by suggesting that the Court did not "take into account that the northern section was protected against falls by handrails that were set up" and by claiming Hofmann was only in violation of a self-imposed rule. Pet. 8-10.

Central Steel's framing about the handrails is disingenuous because it suggests that the handrails offered protection to Hofmann. Pet. 8. But it later admits the handrails weren't complete in the north side. Pet. 9. More to the point, the handrails weren't set up yet where Estores fell—near where Hofmann also initially unclipped. See AR 365, 436-43, 571; see also AR 52. And handrails would not protect against decking that is unsupported. An inaccurate representation of the facts presents no reason for review. Central Steel was required to ensure that its workers used one of the fall protections provided by former WAC 296-155-24609. Following former WAC 296-155-24609(1) is not a self-imposed rule; it is required. RCW 49.17.060(2). No other protection was in place at the time Hofmann untied. Only once the supporting decking was complete and had handrails in place could Central Steel's workers stop being tied off. The fact-finder Board could find that being 10 feet from the leading edge without proper fall protection is within the zone of danger because the risk of falling is presented by being close to the edge and by moving about an unsupported deck. *See* AR 267-68, 392-94. Requiring employers to follow fall protection does not deter employers from protecting its workers with stricter safety protections. Pet. 10. It sets a floor, not a ceiling.

Finally, again inviting this Court to reweigh the evidence, Central Steel attempts to refute the finding of exposure by saying that Hofmann was running away from the leading edge. But Hofmann was reacting in a hurry and could have easily approached the edge, and he was traveling on unsupported decking. *See* AR 481-82. Central Steel ignores the substantial evidence standard of review when it claims "there was no evidence that the deck the employees were traversing was in

any way defective such that employees could fall through" and argues there is no evidence the area would require fall protection. Pet. 8-10. But there was evidence that he unclipped within 10 feet of the edge and the piers were not completely supported in the decking. AR 267-68, 402-04.<sup>3</sup> After all, the decking cracked when an employee jumped on it and he fell 90 feet to his death. AR 410-13, 443. This shows exposure to a potential fall that requires fall protection.

The Court of Appeals acted consistently with the substantial evidence standard of review when it ruled that substantial evidence supported the Board's finding of exposure. FF 8; *Cent. Steel*, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 23-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As one of workers for the prime contractor testified: the reason that the whole area was a leading-edge zone is that "[t]here might be areas where, in this building for instance, underneath, the piers had not been completely supported." AR 275-76. Estores likely fell through the unsupported portion of the deck. *See* AR 365, 571. That's why the entire area was a fall hazard and required 100 percent tie-off.

# B. The Court of Appeals Acted Consistently with Washington Case Law About Imputed Knowledge When a Supervisor Participated in the Violation

Central Steel's minor quarrels about the Court of

Appeals' application of imputed knowledge show no reason for
review for five reasons.

First, there is no dispute that the Department had the burden of proof at the Board. Yet Central Steel inconsistently complains that the Department must show foreseeability otherwise there would be strict liability. Pet. 12, 15. But to prove knowledge, the Department need not show that Central Steel could predict a specific incident—here the foreseeability of Estores's fall and Hofmann's response to it. See Pet. 11-12. Rather, the Department need only show knowledge of a worksite hazard. Central Steel argues that it is not just the hazard that needs to be shown but foreseeability of a "specific[]" hazard and that it is "not enough to find that a condition contravening that standard existed in the employer's workplace." Pet. 14. But that foreseeability argument is exactly the argument that the court rejected in *Bayley Construction v*. Department of Labor & Industries, 10 Wn. App. 2d 768, 450 P.3d 647 (2019). In *Bayley*, the employer argued the Department needed to prove the employer could have predicted that a worker would jump directly onto a floor covering. See Bayley, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 785. But the court found that substantial evidence supported that the work site *hazard*, rather than an *incident*, was foreseeable based on the type of work the workers were performing and the layout of the construction site. *Id.* at 788-89. As *Bayley* highlights, the knowledge analysis focuses on knowledge of the hazardous condition and not on the knowledge of a particular incident with a specific worker.

And indeed Central Steel concedes "[t]he Court of Appeals correctly held that: '[t]o establish the knowledge requirement of a WISHA violation, the Department does not bear the burden to prove that the violation was foreseeable."' Pet. 11 (quoting *Cent. Steel*, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 19). And it also

agrees that the applicable standard "here is whether [the employer] knew or should have known of the violative condition—not whether the behavior that led to the violation was foreseeable." Pet. 11 (citing 20 Wn. App. 2d at 19 (quoting *Potelco*, 194 Wn. App. at 440)). Nonetheless, it flips positions and claims foreseeability is required because under some federal cases the Secretary of Labor must show that the supervisor's conduct was reasonably foreseeable. Pet. 15-17 (citing Brennan v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 511 F.2d 1139 (9th Cir. 1975); *Horne Plumbing and Heating* Co. v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 528 F.2d 564 (5th Cir. 1976); Ocean Elec. Corp. v. Sec'y of Lab., 594 F.2d 396 (4th Cir. 1979); W.G. Yates & Sons Constr. Co. v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 459 F.3d 604 (5th Cir. 2006)).

But Washington courts have not followed a foreseeability rule—instead treating it as part of unpreventable employee misconduct defense—and have adopted the federal case law

that "when a supervisor has actual or constructive knowledge of a safety violation, such knowledge can be imputed to the employer." AR 53 (FF 7); Cent. Steel, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 25 (quoting Potelco, Inc., 194 Wn. App. at 440); Nat'l Realty and Constr. Co. v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 489 F.2d 1257, 1267 n. 38 (D.C. Cir. 1973) (negligent behavior by a supervisor or foreman which results in dangerous risks to employees raises an inference of lax enforcement and communication of the employer's safety policy); *Donovan v.* Capital City Excavating Co., 712 F.2d 1008, 1010 (6th Cir. 1983) (actions of supervisors are imputed to the company); Daniel Int'l Corp. v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 683 F.2d 361, 363 (11th Cir. 1982) (unforeseeable employee misconduct constitutes an affirmative defense); Forging Indus. Ass'n v. Sec'y of Lab., 773 F.2d 1436, 1450 (4th Cir. 1985) (same); Brock v. L.E. Myers Co., High Voltage Div., 818 F.2d 1270, 1277 (6th Cir. 1987) (same); Danco Constr. Co. v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 586 F.2d 1243, 1246

(8th Cir.1978) (same); H.B. Zachry Co. v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 638 F.2d 812, 818- 19 (5th Cir. 1981) (same); Gen. Dynamics Corp. v. Occupational Safety and Health Comm'n, 599 F.2d 453, 458 (1st Cir. 1979) (employer may defend by showing it took all necessary precautions to prevent occurrence of violation). The grab bag of antiquated federal OSHA cases Central Steel cites to support the claim that employers can't be held responsible for their supervisors' violations without knowledge of a specific condition shows nothing. Pet. 13-17. The Court of Appeals recognized that Washington chose to follow the analysis from *Brock*, 818 F.2d at 1277, and others, when Washington adopted an affirmative defense by statute, a statute which places the burden of showing unforeseeability on the employer. Cent. Steel, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 29-30.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected the federal cases cited by Central Steel as they are inconsistent with how Washington applies WISHA. *Cent. Steel*, 20 Wn. App. 2d at

29-30. This Court has always directed that Washington courts not follow federal law that is inconsistent with Washington law. See Aviation W. Corp. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 138 Wn.2d 413, 423-24, 980 P.2d 701 (1999) (declining to adopt OSHA's two-part test for justifying a workplace safety standard for environmental tobacco smoke under WISHA because OSHA's approach was inconsistent with WISHA's more protective statutory scheme). The Court of Appeals recognized that "the Department *does not* bear the burden to prove that an employee's misconduct was foreseeable" and that Washington has decided not to follow this split in federal case law as shown by Washington cases rejecting it and by Washington's adoption of the affirmative defense for unforeseeable employee misconduct. Cent. Steel, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 29-30. Other Court of Appeals cases have also found imputed knowledge when a supervisor is present when they participate in the violative conduct. See Potelco, Inc., v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 7 Wn. App. 2d 236, 245, 433 P.3d 513 (2019); Central Steel v. Dep't

of Lab. & Indus., No. 77432-8-I (consol. with 77530-8-I), 2019 WL 669942, \*5 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 19, 2019) (unpublished decision).

Second, the Legislature has outlined the circumstances when unpreventable, idiosyncratic, and *unforeseeable* misconduct (i.e., failing to remain tied off) excuses compliance with a safety rule. In BD Roofing, Inc. v. Department of Labor & Industries, 139 Wn. App. 98, 113, 161 P.3d 387 (2007), and Wash. Cedar, 119 Wn. App. at 913, the court held that an employer must show that an incident was not foreseeable to prove unpreventable employee misconduct. Under RCW 49.17.120(5)(a), if unpreventable, unforeseeable conduct occurs but the employer has followed a comprehensive safety program, the unpreventable employee misconduct defense excuses a WISHA violation. If the Department establishes a prima facie case that a violation has occurred, as it did here, WISHA relieves the employer of responsibility for the violation if it meets the elements of the test, which center around creation,

communication, and execution of an effective safety program. RCW 49.17.120(5)(a); Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 7 Wn. App. 2d 236, 248-49, 433 P.3d 513 (2018); *BD Roofing*, 139 Wn. App. at 111. As the Court of Appeals recognized, once "the Department established a prima facie case of a WISHA violation, the burden shifted to Central Steel to establish that Hofmann's conduct amounted to unpreventable employee misconduct." Cent. Steel, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 20-21. Central Steel concedes it has waived the affirmative defense, but nonetheless appears to claim that it could not foresee Hofmann's actions. Pet. 11-12, 15-16, 18. But because Central Steel didn't raise the affirmative defense at the Board, the question of foreseeability of the supervisor's actions is irrelevant. Cent. Steel, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 21.

Third, Central Steel seeks to excuse its failure to raise the affirmative defense because it didn't think the Department proved exposure. Pet. 12. Employers are subject to a citation for a serious violation "unless the employer did not, and could not

with the exercise of reasonable diligence, know of the presence of the violation." RCW 49.17.180(7). Protestations about exposure do not go to proving knowledge under this statute.

Fourth, Central Steel's claim it did not need to raise the affirmative defensive of unpreventable employee misconduct because it claims it did not control Hofmann in what it terms "the emergency nature of why Mr. Hofmann decided to disconnect" misses the point entirely. Pet. 12. This conflates the control necessary to show that a company is an employer with the tests for knowledge and unpreventable employee misconduct. This Court recently held that for the Department to prove that a company is an employer there needs to be "some relevant control over the workers and related work conditions . . .." Dep't of Lab & Indus. v. Tradesmen Int'l, LLC, 198 Wn.2d 524, 543, 497 P.3d 353 (2021). Washington law has never required that the Department show control over a specific instance of misconduct to prove misconduct. Rather once the Department establishes that a company is an employer—and

there is no dispute of that here—WISHA applies when an employer knows—here through imputed knowledge—about an unsafe condition. *See id.* at 543; *see also Potelco, Inc.*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 245.

Finally, the Court of Appeals' reasonable interpretation about imputed knowledge of a supervisor involved in the misconduct furthers WISHA's legislative goals. The reason for this imputation rule is that a supervisor is in the best position to know about hazard and take action to remedy it. As the Court of Appeals recognized: "sound policy supports a rule authorizing the imputation of a supervisor's knowledge of his or her own misconduct to an employer" in part because "[a]lthough there is a split among federal circuit courts as to whether an employer's knowledge of a violation may be established by demonstrating that a supervisor knew of his or her own violation, the stated WISHA purpose is best advanced by adopting the analyses of those courts holding that the government regulator may establish employer knowledge by way of such a showing."

Cent. Steel, 20 Wn. App. 2d at 33. The Legislature has spoken by declaring that it is an affirmative defense to show unpreventable employee misconduct (of which a showing of unforeseeability is required), rather than following federal law to the contrary. No review is necessary to second-guess the Legislature's decision.

## V. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, this Court should deny review.

This document contains 4911 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.